



Commission de la santé mentale du Canada

Immigrant, refugee, ethnocultural and racialized populations and the social determinants of health

A Review of 2016 Census Data

February 2019

mentalhealthcommission.ca

Acknowledgements

This document is a collaboration between the Mental Health Commission of Canada's (MHCC) Knowledge Exchange Centre (Lara di Tomasso, Lisa Thompson and Bonita Varga), and the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health's (CAMH) Office of Health Equity (Aamna Ashraf, Dr. Kwame McKenzie and Andrew Tuck).

Expert advice and input was provided by subject-matter experts (SMEs). We would like to express deep gratitude to the members of MHCC's Collaborative on Immigrant, Refugee, Ethnocultural and Racialized Mental Health who provided critical input, review and guidance in the development of this document.

Copyright

© (2019) Mental Health Commission of Canada ISBN: 978-1-77318-090-8 Legal deposit National Library of Canada



The views represented herein solely represent the views of the Mental Health Commission of Canada. Production of this material is made possible through a financial contribution from Health Canada.

Table of Contents

Introduction	.1
Context	. 2
A growing immigrant population	. 2
A growing racialized population	. 3
Meeting the mental health needs of IRER populations	. 5
The Social Determinants of Health	.6
Language	.6
Language and an aging population	.7
Income	. 8
Education and employment income1	11
Unemployment and underemployment1	13
Discrimination and hate1	15
Reported hate crimes in Canada1	15
What motivates hate crimes and who is affected?1	17
Conclusion1	18
References2	20

Introduction

As one of the most diverse countries in the world, Canada relies on immigration to enrich and strengthen its social and economic fabric. The most recent Census data from 2016 confirms this demographic picture and its many benefits. Yet a detailed analysis is needed if we are to adequately understand the equity issues emerging in the policies, programs, and services of health-related, social, and economic programs.

It is well documented, for example, that immigrants arrive with better mental and physical health than the Canadian-born population. Yet this "healthy immigrant effect" disappears after five years.¹ Research also shows that immigrant, refugee, ethnocultural, and racialized (IRER) populations are less likely than the Canadian population to seek help with mental health problems (for reasons such as language barriers, access to services, fear, and stigma)² and more likely to use expensive services like emergency rooms if their mental health reaches a crisis point.^{2.3}

Given the federal government's objective to attract 1.3 million new permanent residents between 2018 and 2021,⁴ it is essential that those in our mental health systems ensure equity of access and outcomes for IRER populations. To identify gaps and develop responses to help mitigate declines in IRER mental health, health systems must have the capacity to collect and use sociodemographic data. Such data will foster health equity in mental health service planning and delivery, as the Mental Health Commission of Canada (MHCC) has recommended in two reports: *Issues and Options* (2009) and the *Case for Diversity* (2016).

To help achieve these ends, this paper highlights select sociodemographic trends and issues related to IRER mental health and well-being, identified from 2016 Census data⁵ by the MHCC Collaborative on IRER Mental Health. The collaborative prioritized a number of key social determinants that influence mental health, including language, income, education, unemployment and underemployment, discrimination, and hate crimes. This data shows that immigrants experience a range of equity-related issues after settling in Canada – with many having an impact on outcomes related to health and well-being – and it speaks to an increasingly urgent need for action.

Given that immigrants constitute a growing proportion of the population, health and social service decision makers (at system- and service-levels) would do well to consider these findings as they develop strategies to increase access to culturally and linguistically appropriate services.

Context

A growing immigrant population

Migration accounts for approximately two-thirds of Canada's population growth and will remain a key driver of growth as the population continues to age and natural replacement rates remain low.⁶ Between 2011 and 2016, the immigrant population increased by 19% (approximately 1.2 million people) with provinces and territories experiencing growth rates of between 14% and 74% (see Figure 1). Saskatchewan (74%), Prince Edward Island (60%), and Newfoundland and Labrador (44%) saw the largest growth rates.





Highly populated provinces welcomed the largest number of immigrants between 2011 and 2016 (see Figure 2) with 472,170 immigrants arriving in Ontario, 215,170 in Quebec, and 207,790 in Alberta.

^{*} The census definition of *immigrant* includes economic and family-class immigrants and accepted refugees.



Figure 2. Number of immigrants that arrived between 2011 and 2016⁸

A growing racialized population

For many reasons, the term *visible minority* is no longer appropriate to describe diverse populations living in Canada. In some cities the majority of individuals may not identify as First Nations, Inuit, Métis, or Caucasian. To acknowledge race as a social construct, this report uses the term *racialized*. The number of people who identified as racialized rose significantly across Canada between 2011 and 2016. Saskatchewan, Nunavut, and Newfoundland and Labrador saw the largest percentage increases at 83%, 77%, and 70%, respectively (see Figure 3). In terms of the number of racialized residents, Ontario, Alberta, and British Columbia saw the largest increases. According to the 2016 Census, Calgary, Winnipeg, and Ottawa, all boast populations where more than one in four people identify as racialized, a rate that jumps to one in two in Vancouver and Toronto (see Figure 4).



Figure 3. Percentage increase in racialized population between 2011 and 2016^{9,10}

Figure 4. Percentage of population in select census metropolitan areas (CMAs)^{\cdot} that identified as racialized in 2016⁹



^{*} Census metropolitan areas, as defined by Statistics Canada, may be larger than the area under a city's administration, leading to bigger population sizes in the CMAs.

Meeting the mental health needs of IRER populations

Studies show that the rate of health service use is low among people living with mental health problems or illnesses in IRER populations; however, this finding may mask a greater use of more costly, higher intensity services over time, such as those offered by hospitals or forensic psychiatric services.² In many cases mainstream mental health care is inconsistent with the values, expectations, and patterns of immigrants and refugee populations.¹¹ Although mental illnesses have similar symptoms across cultures, the ways people manifest, describe, and interpret symptoms vary across cultures. Similarly, culture influences where people seek help and which treatments they prefer.^{12,13}

A significant body of research demonstrates that early intervention improves outcomes and can reduce costs, which means that addressing the mental health needs of IRER populations, can result in cost savings for the health care system and the economy as a whole.² That said, the evidence also shows that one size does not fit all when it comes to providing mental health services.² While policy makers and system and service planners must work to improve access to timely and culturally and linguistically appropriate mental health services, there is a need to first address the lack of research on how to distinguish the mental health needs of racialized immigrants and refugees from those of racialized populations born in Canada.²

To support evidence-informed decision making, more research is required that explores the myriad differences and distinct needs within immigrant and racialized populations and how these relate to mental health and health outcomes.² While the research indicates that ethnic background and race play a significant role in health status, outcomes, and the quality of care received,,, sociodemographic data are not routinely collected in Canada's health settings.² As a result, the relationship between race and migration (along with other aspects of identity) and access to mental health services and outcomes is not well documented or understood. Only the consistent collection of sociodemographic data – that enables health systems to identify disparities in access and outcomes and develops responses that improve programs and services for all populations – will change the situation. In short, sociodemographic data collection is fundamental to identifying and addressing inequities in health and mental health.¹⁴

The Social Determinants of Health

The circumstances in which people live, work, and grow, along with the wider systems that influence people's lives, are known as the social determinants of health.²

Social determinants can increase or decrease a person's risk of developing a mental health problem or illness and can limit access to timely and appropriate mental health care.² IRER populations in Canada are more exposed to the social determinants that are known to contribute to mental health problems and illnesses.¹¹ In the sections that follow, this report will explore 2016 Census data as it relates to six social determinants of health:

- Language
- Language and the aging population
- Income disparities
- Education and employment income
- Unemployment and underemployment
- Discrimination and hate

Language

Whether or not a person can access mental health services in their language of choice is an indicator of equity in access to mental health services and is central to getting adequate care and treatment.

For mental health services to be accessible it is necessary for service users to be highly proficient in the language in which the service is being offered. A language barrier can be enough to stop newcomers from seeking services, since it could make it difficult for them to navigate the system or convey their feelings, thoughts, and symptoms.¹¹

The number of people who reported having a mother tongue other than English or French has, since 2011,¹⁵ risen to 7,260,080 (about 21% of Canada's population). According to the 2016 Census, 75.5% of those with an immigrant mother tongue lived in one of the country's six largest CMAs: Montreal, Ottawa-Gatineau, Toronto, Calgary, Edmonton, and Vancouver. While most newcomers speak a mother tongue other than the two official languages, many speak some English or French. Among the immigrants who arrived between 2011 and 2016, 106,770 (8.9%) reported not speaking either official language.¹⁵

Unlike the justice system, where interpretation services are mandated, the health system often relies on children, family members and non-medical staff to provide

them.¹¹ Even when these are available in health settings, service providers are often not taught how to use them appropriately.¹¹ Issues pertaining to language barriers that prevent adequate access to health services are particularly complicated for the aging immigrant population, whose first language may not be English or French.

Language and an aging population

In the Greater Toronto Area, seniors are more likely to report poorer (self-rated) mental health if they are a recent immigrant, are racialized, or have a mother tongue other than English or French.¹⁶

Not only is Canada's population aging,^{17,18} as of 2016 the segment that is 65 or older is becoming more diverse,¹⁹ with nearly one-quarter reporting a mother tongue other than English or French.²⁰ In addition, an estimated 1.8 million seniors in the country currently live with a mental health problem or illness,²¹ a number that could reach three million by 2041.^{21,22} Undoubtedly, an inability to communicate with your health care providers due to language barriers or lack of proficient interpretation services, especially if you are living with mental health problems or illnesses (including dementia), can affect comprehension, the ability to convey information and, consequently, the quality of care you receive.

In addition, over half a million people in Canada live with dementia.²² The likelihood of experiencing dementia increases with age, with about 35% of seniors over the age of 90 living with cognitive disorders that include dementia.²¹ For individuals living with dementia, access to linguistically appropriate care is essential since, as research shows, such individuals whose first language differs from that of the host country tend to revert to their mother tongue and have greater difficulty understanding and comprehending the second language they acquired later in life.²³⁻²⁶ Recognizing that the language older Canadians use at home may not be English or French, and that proficiency in second and third languages can deteriorate due to illness, health care systems must make a more concerted effort to address the linguistic needs of its diversifying, aging population.

The number of seniors who speak an immigrant non-official language most often at home grew between 2006 and 2016^{27,28} Table 1 lists the top 10 such languages across Canada, which have changed between 2006 and 2016 as a result of shifting demographics. Tracking this data is important for understanding what is needed regarding workforce planning (i.e., people working with seniors) and interpretation services.

Table 1. The 10 immigrant languages spoken most often at home among all Canadians and seniors (65+) in 2006 versus 2016^{27,28}

	All Canadians 2006	All Canadians 2016	Canadians 65+ 2006	Canadians 65+ 2016
1	Chinese (unspecified) 341,480	Mandarin 462,890	Italian 106,115	Cantonese 111,580
2	Cantonese 300,595	Cantonese 400,215	Chinese (unspecified) 54,440	Italian 93,265
3	Punjabi 278,500	Punjabi 349,140	Cantonese 49,795	Punjabi 62,915
4	Spanish 209,955	Spanish 263,510	Punjabi 33,185	Mandarin 42,385
5	Italian 170,330	Arabic 223,540	German 29,420	Portuguese 36,655
6	Arabic 144,745	Tagalog 213,790	Portuguese 28,355	Spanish 28,450
7	Mandarin 143,385	Persian 143,020	Greek 22,275	Greek 27,340
8	German 128,345	Urdu 128,785	Polish 16,295	Tagalog 25,130
9	Tagalog 119,340	German 120,330	Spanish 15,440	German 20,880
10	Vietnamese 111,440	Russian 116,595	Tagalog 13,835	Arabic 20,535
Tota	als 3,342,790	3,878,725	537,820	705,265

Income

Low income, particularly when experienced in combination with unemployment, severely limits a person's access to timely mental health services in Canada.

The 2016 Census shows a significant disparity in income between immigrants and nonimmigrants. The Census also illustrates that a disproportionate number of immigrant and racialized households qualify as low income.[•] The median annual income for the immigrant population in Canada is at least \$6,000 less than for non-immigrants.²⁹ This disparity is even more pronounced for newcomers who arrived between 2011 and 2016; their median annual income was \$13,400 less than that of non-immigrants.²⁹ While slightly less pronounced, this same income gap also occurs between racialized and non-racialized populations, with the former group earning \$11,024 less.³⁰ Such income disparities negatively affect people's mental health and reduce their ability to access mental health services, since many interventions, like psychotherapy, require individuals to pay out of pocket.^{31,32} A key part of fostering health equity is therefore expanding access to publicly funded mental health services that are culturally and linguistically appropriate.

Low income is a social determinant of health that strongly interacts with others like food insecurity and housing. There is a clear link between low income, financial insecurity, poverty, and mental illness.^{†11,33,38} Even *perceived* low-income can affect people's access to primary health care³⁷ – which is significant since primary care physicians deliver up to two-thirds of all mental health services in Canada.³⁹ Longitudinal research from the U.S. has showed that reductions in income levels over

^{*} Statistics Canada uses a LICO-AT (low-Income cut-offs, after tax) measure, which refers to an income threshold below which economic families or persons not in an economic family would likely have devoted a larger share (20% or more) of their after-tax income than average to the necessities of food, shelter, and clothing.⁷

⁺ See, for example, the *Hamilton Spectator's <u>Code Red Hamilton</u>* series.

a three-year period raises the risk of mood, anxiety, or substance use problems significantly.⁴⁰ The study also found that increases in household income over the same period did not appreciably change the likelihood of a mental health problem or illness.⁴⁰

In 2015, the 9.2% of Canadians fell below the LICO-AT threshold.⁴¹ Yet, a larger percentage of immigrants (13%) and racialized Canadians (16.4%) fell below this threshold than did non-immigrant (7.3%) or non-racialized Canadians (7.1%; see figures 5-7).^{7,42} In fact, the proportion of the racialized population living below LICO-AT in any province is at least twice^{*} – and in some cases ten times – that of the non-racialized population.⁴² That said, low-income rates across immigrant generations vary greatly for racialized and non-racialized Canadians.⁴²

Figure 5. Percentage of population in low income after tax (LICO-AT) by immigration status for Canada and provinces⁷



^{*} Statistics Canada does not apply LICO-AT to the territories. The existence of substantial in-kind transfers and sizeable barter economies or the consumption of one's own production (such as product from hunting, farming, or fishing) could make the interpretation of low-income statistics more difficult in these situations.⁴²





Figure 7. Percentage of population in low income after tax (LICO-AT) by (non-Aboriginal) racialized status for provinces and territories⁴²



Regardless of how long particular immigrants have been in Canada (or where they live), in 2015 they were more likely than non-immigrants to live below the LICO-AT threshold (see figures 5 and 6). While the percentage of immigrants living with low-incomes is similar across provinces, greater fluctuations by province exist for people who arrived between 2011 and 2016.⁵ With specific racialized populations, the percentages of those living below the LICO-AT threshold ranges widely, from 6.3% for Filipino Canadians to

more than 25% for Arab, West Asian, and Korean Canadians.⁴² While the data does not provide reasons for these differences, it indicates that a one-size-fits-all approach is inadequate to meet the needs of different populations. The percentage of racialized populations living below LICO-AT decreases in relation to the time lived in Canada. In several provinces (N.B., N.S., N.L., Que.), however, the percentage of second generation racialized Canadians living below LICO-AT is lower than first and third generation groups.⁴²

Two-thirds of immigrants in any given year between 2000 and 2012 experienced chronic low-income[•] (i.e., lasting five years or longer).⁴³ While chronic low-income among immigrants did improve over that time,⁴³ it did not rise as quickly as for the Canadian-born comparison group.⁴³ The highest rates of chronic low-income are experienced by immigrants over 65, at 30% among those in Canada for 20 years or less and 50% among more recent immigrants.⁴³

Education and employment income

Research suggests that when mismatches occur between education and occupation levels, higher rates of depression and mental illness can occur.^{44,45}

In general, immigrant populations have higher levels of education and are more likely to have post-secondary degrees than people born in Canada. Nearly half (44%) of those who immigrated between 2011 and 2014 hold a bachelor's degree, and more than 15% hold a master's, doctorate, or medical degree (see Table 2). These trends are in large part due to the six selection factors used in the federal skilled workers program (the points system). The second highest proportion of all immigrants admitted to Canada in 2016⁴⁶ entered under this program, which awards the most points to graduate degree holders.⁴⁷

Yet, despite these higher levels of education, immigrants earn less on average than people born in Canada. Immigrants working full time in 2015 earned less than non-immigrant Canadians with the same degree (see figures 8 and 9). Recent immigrants with the highest post-secondary education rates earned the least among full-time workers.⁴⁸ Women, whether immigrant or non-immigrant, earn less than their male counterparts across all categories, making recently arrived immigrant women among the lowest income earners in Canada.^{48,49}

^{*} This study uses an *adjusted* low-income measure (LIM): the national LIM multiplied by a city-specific factor for differences in the cost of basic necessities.⁴³

Based on available Census data, it is difficult to determine if people are employed in the professions they are trained for or are in jobs that are commensurate with their education levels and experience. It is likely that a high proportion of recent immigrants work in "survival jobs" that do not reflect their education or related pay levels.^{50,51} Strict regulations and other barriers to credential recognition make it more difficult for some to find work in their fields, specifically, lawyers, engineers, physicians, and other regulated health professionals. These obstacles are probable influences on the observed differentials in median incomes between immigrant and non-immigrant populations. To this extent, overqualification, defined as employment in an occupation below an individual's skill or experience level,^{52, 53} is prevalent among immigrant populations in Canada.⁵³ Still, although overqualification is negatively associated with life satisfaction, this association weakens over time spent in Canada.⁵³







Figure 9. Median employment income earned by immigration status and highest degree earned for full-time workers in 2015 by sex⁴⁸

Table 2. Percentage of population based on immigration status with select earned degrees (Age 15+)⁵⁴

	No degree	Bachelor's degree or higher [*]	Master's degree, doctorate, or earned medical degree
Non-immigrant	18.78%	19.64%	4.46%
Immigrant	17.38%	32.53%	10.40%
Recent	14.94%	44.16%	15.25%
immigrant			

Unemployment and underemployment

Unemployment and poor-quality employment are particularly strong risk factors for mental health problems and illnesses. But the causal relationship between unemployment and mental health is complex, since people dealing with mental health issues are more likely to be unemployed.^{40,55,56}

Precarious employment situations, such as fluctuating unemployment, low wages, underemployment, and undesirable employment due to insecure job markets, may have a detrimental effect on mental health.⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹ When, on the other hand, employment is

Bachelor's degree or higher refers to the Statistics Canada category "University certificate, diploma or degree at bachelor level or above."

meaningful, worthwhile, and challenging, it is an important part of overall health and wellbeing, contributing to financial security, positive social interactions, and personal growth and development.

The pattern of unemployment among non-immigrants, immigrants, and recent immigrants is similar across all levels of education (see Figure 10), with recent immigrants experiencing the highest rates of unemployment, and non-immigrants experiencing the lowest.⁶⁰ The main exception is for those who have no certificate, diploma, or degree or else have a certificate in the trades. In all such cases, immigrants have lower rates of unemployment than non-immigrants.⁶⁰ In 2016, unemployment in Canada was relatively low at 7.7%.⁶¹ While immigrants had this same rate of unemployment,⁶⁰ for racialized populations it was 9.2%.⁶² Those without any certificate (i.e., without a high school diploma) had the highest rates of unemployment.⁶⁰ Recent immigrants (arriving between 2011 and 2016) with a doctorate are 3.5 times more likely to be unemployed than non-immigrants with the same level of education (see Figure 10).



Figure 10. Percentage of unemployed Canadians age 15 and older by immigration status and highest degree earned⁶⁰

Research with immigrant and racialized populations indicates that unemployment and precarious employment significantly impact mental health.⁶³⁻⁶⁶ One of these studies shows that when unemployment occurs soon after arrival, it greatly influences mental health and well-being.⁶³ A second study concludes that high rates of neighbourhood unemployment take a psychological toll on first generation immigrants, more so than

on non-immigrants living in the same neighbourhood.⁶⁴ Precarious employment status is likely to be more of a burden for immigrant women, especially among those who are racialized.⁶⁵ Immigrant women in such situations report numerous emotional and mental health symptoms, including insomnia, anxiousness, panic attacks, a sense of helplessness, and continuous feelings of stress.^{65,66}

Discrimination and hate

Discrimination is a key determinant of mental health, and it impacts immigrant and racialized populations^{8,64-68} in many ways, including socially inflicted trauma (indirect or witnessed), social inequality, and inadequate, inappropriate, or degrading medical care.^{67,68}

Canadian longitudinal data⁶⁹ reveals an association between perceived discrimination and a deterioration of self-reported mental health for immigrants after arrival. Not only can discrimination weaken mental health for immigrant and racialized populations, it can also discourage help-seeking behaviours.^{11,70,71} When immigrants and racialized populations have experienced discrimination or have the perception (or expectation) of discrimination in accessing services, they are less likely to look to the health care system for help;^{11,70,71} instead, they may opt for non-medical services for their mental health concerns.⁷⁰

Reported hate crimes in Canada

Rates of discrimination and hate crimes are difficult to understand and measure, especially because of under-reporting and a lack of uniformity in data sources.⁷² While police services collect and report on hate crimes, the reports are limited by the number of cases that are directly reported, which is likely lower than the rates of occurrence.^{72,73} Statistics Canada asks Canadians to self-report discrimination and victimization in hate crimes through its General Social Survey.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ This annual survey provides at least some understanding of who the targets of these behaviours are as well as the general patterns and trends over time.⁷²

Yet there are marked differences across the country's biggest CMAs regarding the prevalence and motivations for hate crimes. From 2014 through to 2016, the number of hate crimes reported to police was approximately 4 per 100,000 people nationally. However, the rates are either lower or higher than this in different CMAs (see Figure 11), ranging from less than one case per 100,000 in Halifax and St. John's to 12.5 per 100,000 in Hamilton.⁷³

Although the percentage of reported hate crimes for the country remained stable from 2014 to 2015 and 2015 to 2016, some CMAs saw dramatic changes.⁷³ Those that are smaller may have greater swings from year to year because overall numbers are low. For instance, reported hate crimes in Edmonton increased by 122.2% between 2014 and 2015 (rising from 36 to 81 incidents) but dropped by 40% between 2015 and 2016.⁷²

In Quebec City, reported hate crimes decreased by 44.4% from 2014 to 2015 (from 50 down to 28 incidents) and increased by 102.9% from 2015 to 2016, with 57 crimes per 100,000 in 2016.⁷³ Such changes may reflect actual changes in the number of hate crimes from one year to the next or a change in desire to report.





What motivates hate crimes and who is affected?

The most common type of hate crime is motivated by race or ethnicity.⁷³

In 2014, there were 611 ethnically or racially motivated hate crimes committed in Canada; in 2015, there were 641 reported incidents, and in 2016, there were 666. Black Canadians reported the highest number of crimes in each of these years (see Figure 12).

Self-report survey data suggests that non-immigrant Canadians experience greater levels of violent victimization^{*} than immigrants,^{74,75} and Canadian-born individuals who are members of a racialized population have a much higher rate of self-reported violent victimization than racialized immigrants.⁷⁵ While the reasons for this higher number of reports are not clear, both racialized Canadians and immigrants report less satisfaction about the actions of police.^{74,75} Over half the immigrants (53%) who reported being victims of a crime did not report it to police,⁷⁴ but three-quarters did not believe the crime was motivated by hate.⁷⁴ When they did report a crime, immigrants had a lower opinion (55%) of police action compared to non-immigrants (28%).⁷⁴ Racialized Canadians were less likely than non-racialized Canadians to say police were approachable and easy to talk to and twice as likely to report an experience of discrimination when dealing with the police (in the five years before the survey).⁷⁵

Hate crimes reported to the police that targeted Black Canadians have decreased each year since 2012. Since 2013, however, the number targeting Arabs[†] and West Asians[‡] has increased.⁷³ Police services also document motivation by sexual orientation and religion. Religiously motivated hate crimes predominantly target Jewish and Muslim Canadians,⁷³ and self-reported victimization rates indicate that non-Christians are more likely to be victims of discrimination than Christians.⁷⁶

 $^{^{*}}$ This includes sexual assault, robbery, and physical assault. $^{^{74}}$

⁺ The term *Arab* is used by Statistics Canada in their visible minority category and reports; it is based on the *Employment Equity Act.*⁷⁷

⁺ The term West Asian is used by Statistics Canada in their visible minority category and reports as follows: "West Asian (e.g. Iranian, Afghan, etc.)."⁷⁷



Figure 12. Hate crimes in Canada by motivation type race or ethnicity (select groups)⁷³

Conclusion

Ensuring IRER populations have equitable access to mental health services requires action on the social determinants of health, a focus on mental health promotion and illness prevention, and a commitment to developing culturally responsive, safe, and accessible services and systems that meet their needs.²

Using 2016 Census data, this paper demonstrates that IRER groups continue to experience a range of equity issues that can impact their mental health and wellbeing, including discrimination, underemployment, and low-income. The rapid growth of IRER populations in all parts of the country presents provinces and territories with a responsibility to provide equitable health and mental health services to meet their needs. One approach the jurisdictions can take is to create population-based plans that tailor service development to their wider demographic imperatives.¹¹ To do so, services and systems must first collect sociodemographic data at the point of accessing services to identify gaps and inequities in health-care access and outcomes and to develop and track service system responses.¹⁴

In light of the ongoing issues outlined in the paper, the MHCC plans to examine progress on the key recommendations in the *Issues and Options* report. In partnership with the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, the MHCC will review federal, provincial, and territorial policy documents to identify governmental priorities for improving the experiences of IRER groups (in relation to the social determinants of health) and increasing access to more culturally safe and competent mental health services.

This policy scan will also identify areas of progress as well as opportunities where activities to enhance supports for IRER mental health and wellbeing can be strengthened. In addition, it will provide insights to assist decision makers on where best to focus their efforts.

The Canadian government's immigration targets will invariably bring greater diversity. Some projections suggest that, by 2036, between 24.5% and 30%⁷⁸ of people living in Canada will have been born elsewhere. Fostering and supporting the physical and mental health of all newcomers, and ensuring that all people living in Canada can access equitable, quality mental health services to support them to live satisfying, hopeful and contributing lives, are drivers of Canada's social and economic vibrancy. Ultimately, the settlement, integration, and success of newcomers is a shared responsibility across jurisdictions.

References

¹ Newbold, K. B. (2005). Self-rated health within the Canadian immigrant population: Risk and the healthy immigrant effect. *Social Science and Medicine, 60*, 1359-1370.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.06.048

² Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2016). *The case for diversity: Building the case to improve mental health services for immigrant, refugee, ethno-cultural and racialized populations.* Retrieved from https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2016-

10/case for diversity oct 2016 eng.pdf

³ Saunders, N. R., Gill, P. J., Holder, L., Vigod, S., Kurdyak, P., Gandhi, S., & Guttman, A. (2018). Use of the emergency department as a first point of contact for mental health care by immigrant youth in Canada: A population-based study. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 190*, E1183-E1191. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.180277

⁴ Smith, S., & Katem, E. (2018, November 1). Canada extends immigration targets into 2021 with prominent roles for express entry, PNPs. *Canada Immigration News.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.cicnews.com/2018/11/canada-extends-immigration-targets-into-2021-with-prominent-roles-for-express-entry-pnps-1111368.html#gs.haCiwHc</u>

⁵ Statistics Canada. (2018). Census profile: 2016 Census of population. Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E</u>

⁶ Statistics Canada. (2014). Population growth: Migratory increase overtakes natural increase (Catalogue No. 11-630-X2014001). Retrieved from <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/catalogue/11-630-X2014001</u>

⁷ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Immigrant status and period of immigration (10), income statistics (17), age (10), and sex (3) for the population aged 15 years and over in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016206). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/</u>

⁸ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Admission category and applicant type (46), period of immigration (7), age (12) and sex (3) for the immigrant population who landed between 1980 and 2016, in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016201). Retrieved from https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/

⁹ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Visible minority (15), immigrant status and period of immigration (11), age (12) and sex (3) for the population in private households (Catalogue <u>No. 98-400-X2016191</u>). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016</u>

¹⁰ Statistics Canada. (2014). Data tables, 2011 National Household Survey. Visible minority (15), generation status (4), age groups (10) and sex (3) for the population in private households (Catalogue No. 99-010-X2011029). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/nhs-enm/2011/</u>

¹¹ Hansson, E., Tuck, A., Lurie, S., & McKenzie, K., for the Task Group of the Services Systems Advisory Committee, Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2009). *Improving mental health services for immigrant, refugee, ethno- cultural and racialized groups: Issues and options for service improvement.* Retrieved from the Mental Health Commission of Canada website:

http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/document/457/improving-mental-health-servicesimmigrant-refugee-ethno-cultural-and-racialized-groups

¹² Srivastava, R. (2007). *The healthcare professional's guide to clinical cultural competence*. Toronto: Elsevier Canada.

¹³ Hassan, G., Kirmayer, L. J., Mekki-Berrada, A., Quosh, C., El Chammay, R., Deville-Stoetzel, J. B., . . . Ventevogel, P. (2015). *Culture, context and the mental health and psychosocial wellbeing of Syrians: A review for mental health and psychosocial support staff working with Syrians affected by armed conflict.* Retrieved from the UN High Commissioner for Refugees website: <u>https://www.unhcr.org/55f6b90f9.pdf</u>

¹⁴ Sinai Health System. (2017). *Measuring health equity: Demographic data collection and use in Toronto Central LHIN hospitals and community health centres.* Retrieved from http://torontohealthequity.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Measuring-Health-Equity-Demographic-Data-Collection-Use-in-TC-LHIN-Hospitals-and-CHCs-2017.pdf

¹⁵ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Mother tongue (187), immigrant status and period of immigration (11), number of languages known (11), age (12) and sex (3) for the population in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016193). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/</u>

¹⁶ Um, S., & Lightman, N. (2017). *Seniors' health in the GTA: How immigration, language, and racialization impact seniors' health.* Retrieved from the Wellesley Institute website:

https://www.wellesleyinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Seniors-Health-in-the-GTA-Final.pdf

¹⁷ Statistics Canada. (2017, May 3). Age and sex, and type of dwelling data: Key results from the 2016 Census [Press release]. *The Daily.* Retrieved from <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-guotidien/170503/dq170503a-eng.htm</u>

¹⁸ Statistics Canada. (2017). A portrait of the population aged 85 and older in 2016 in Canada (Catalogue No. 98-200-X2016004). *Census in Brief.* Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/as-sa/98-200-x/2016004/98-200-x2016004-eng.pdf</u>

¹⁹ Statistics Canada. (2017). Immigration and ethnocultural diversity highlight tables, 2016 Census (Catalogue No. 98-402-X2016007). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hlt-fst/imm/index-eng.cfm</u>

²⁰ Statistics Canada. (2017). Language highlight tables, 2016 Census (Catalogue No. 98-402-X2016005). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hlt-fst/lang/index-eng.cfm</u>

²¹ Smetanin, P., Stiff, D., Briante, C., Adair, C. E., Ahmad, S., & Khan, M. (2011). *The life and economic impact of major mental illnesses in Canada: 2011 to 2041.* Retrieved from the Mental Health Commission of Canada website:

https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/MHCC Report Base Case FINAL ENG 0 0.pdf

²² Alzheimer Society of Canada. (2016). *Prevalence and monetary costs of dementia in Canada*. Retrieved from <u>http://alzheimer.ca/sites/default/files/files/national/statistics/prevalenceandcostsofdementia_en.pdf</u>

²³ Visala Rao, D., Warburton, J., & Bartlett, H. (2006). Health and social needs of older Australians from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds: Issues and implications. *Australasian Journal on Ageing, 25*, 174-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-6612.2006.00181.x</u>

²⁴ Alzheimer's Australia Vic. (2008). *Perceptions of dementia in ethnic communities*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.dementia.org.au/sites/default/files/20101201-Nat-CALD-Perceptions-of-dementia-in-ethnic-communities-Oct08.pdf</u>

²⁵ Tipping, S. A., & Whiteside, M. (2015). Language reversion among people with dementia from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds: The family experience. *Australian Social Work, 68*, 184-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2014.953187</u>

²⁶ Kokorelias, K. M., Ryan, E. B., & Elliot, G. (2017). Innovative practice: Conversational use of English in bilingual adults with dementia. *Dementia, 16*, 233-242. doi:10.1177/1471301216635827

²⁷ Statistics Canada. (2008). 2006 Census, topic-based tabulations: Language (Catalogue No. 97-955-XCB2006045). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/</u> ²⁸ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Population language spoken most often at home (269), other language(s) spoken regularly at home (270) and age (15a) for the population excluding institutional residents (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016075). Retrieved from https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/

²⁹ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Immigrant status and period of immigration (10), income statistics (17), age (10) and sex (3) for the population aged 15 years and over in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016205). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/</u>

³⁰ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Visible minority (15), income statistics (17), generation status (4), age (10) and sex (3) for the population aged 15 years and over in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016210). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/</u>

³¹ Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2017). *Options for improving access to counselling, psychotherapy and psychological services for mental health problems and illnesses.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2017-</u>

<u>07/Options_for_improving_access_to_counselling_psychotherapy_and_psychological_services_eng.pdf</u>

³² Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2018). *Expanding access to psychotherapy: Mapping lessons learned from Australia and the United Kingdom to the Canadian context.* Retrieved from https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2018-08/Fraanding_Access to Dsychotherapy 2018 pdf

08/Expanding_Access_to_Psychotherapy_2018.pdf

³³ Beiser, M., Hou, F., Hyman, I., & Tousignant, M. (2002). Poverty, family process, and the mental health of immigrant children in Canada. *American Journal of Public Health, 92*, 220-227.

³⁴ Mackenbach, J. P., Stirbu, I., Roskam, A.-J. R., Schaap, M. M., Menvielle, G., Leinsalu, M., & Kunst, A. E. (2008). Socioeconomic inequalities in health in 22 European countries. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *358*, 2468-2481. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa0707519

³⁵ Orpana, H. M., Lemyre, L., & Gravel, R. (2009, January). Income and psychosocial distress: The role of the social environment. *Health Reports*, 21-28. Retrieved from

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/82-003-x/2009001/article/10772-eng.pdf?st=SpAF76wK

³⁶ Sareen, J., Afifi, T. O., McMillan, K. A., & Asmundson, G. J. G. (2011). Relationship between household income and mental disorders: Findings from a population-based longitudinal study. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 68*, 419-427. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.15

³⁷ Olah, M. E., Gaisano, G., & Hwang, S. W. (2013). The effect of socioeconomic status on access to primary care: An audit study. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 185*(6), E263-E269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.121383</u>

³⁸ Reiss, F. (2013). Socioeconomic inequalities and mental health problems in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Social Science and Medicine, 90*, 24-31. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.04.026

³⁹ Lesage, A., Vasiliadis, H.-M., Gagne, M.-A., Dudgeon, S., Kasman, N., & Hay, C. (2006). Prevalence of mental illnesses and related service utilization in Canada: An analysis of the Canadian Community Health Survey. Retrieved from the Canadian Collaborative Mental Health Initiative website: <u>http://www.shared-care.ca/files/09_Prevalence_EN.pdf</u>

⁴⁰ Dooley, D., Prause, J., & Ham-Rowbottom, K. A. (2000). Underemployment and depression: Longitudinal relationships. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 41*, 421-436.

⁴¹ Statistics Canada. (2017). Income highlight tables, 2016 Census (Catalogue No. 98-402-X2016006). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hlt-fst/inc-rev/index-eng.cfm</u> ⁴² Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Visible minority (15), individual low-income status (6), low-income indicators (4), generation status (4), age (6) and sex (3) for the population in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016211). Retrieved from <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/</u>

⁴³ Picot, G., & Lu, Y. (2017). *Chronic low income among immigrants in Canada and its communities.* Retrieved from the Statistics Canada website:

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/11f0019m/11f0019m2017397-eng.pdf?st=Hd8caAkU

⁴⁴ Gal, G., Kaplan, G., Gross, R., & Levav, I. (2008). Status inconsistency and common mental disorders in the Israel-based world mental health survey. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 43*, 999-1003.

⁴⁵ Bracke, P., Pattyn, E., & von dem Knesebeck, O. (2013). Overeducation and depressive symptoms: Diminishing health returns to education. *Sociology of Health and Illness, 35*, 1242-1259. doi:10.1111/1467-9566.12039

⁴⁶ Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2017). *2017 Annual report to Parliament on immigration*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-</u>

citizenship/corporate/publications-manuals/annual-report-parliament-immigration-2017.html

⁴⁷ Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2018). Six selection factors, Federal Skilled Workers Program (express entry). Retrieved from <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-</u> <u>citizenship/services/immigrate-canada/express-entry/eligibility/federal-skilled-workers/six-selection-</u> <u>factors-federal-skilled-workers.html</u>.

⁴⁸ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: First official language spoken (7), income statistics (17), highest certificate, diploma or degree (15), immigrant status and period of immigration (10), work activity during the reference year (4a), age (6b) and sex (3) for the population aged 15 years and over in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016200). Retrieved from

https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/

⁴⁹ Statistics Canada. (2011). *Women in Canada: A gender-based statistical report* (6th ed.; Catalogue No. 89-503-X). Retrieved from <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/89-503-x/89-503-x2010001-eng.pdf?st=vEIBXYP5</u>

⁵⁰ Creese, G., & Wiebe, B. (2012). "Survival employment": Gender and deskilling among African Immigrants in Canada. *International Migration, 50*(5), 56-76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2435.2009.00531.x</u>

⁵¹ Moyce, S., Lash, R., & de Leon Siantz, M. L. (2016). Migration experiences of foreign educated nurses: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing, 27*, 181-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659615569538</u>

⁵² Chen, C., Smith, P., & Mustard, C. (2010). The prevalence of over-qualification and its association with health status among occupationally active new immigrants to Canada. *Ethnicity and Health, 15*, 601-619. doi:10.1080/13557858.2010.502591

⁵³ Frank, K., & Hou, F. (2016). *Over-education and life satisfaction among immigrant and non-immigrant workers in Canada*. Retrieved from the Statistics Canada website:

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/11f0019m/11f0019m2017393-eng.pdf?st=_TaAaYg1

⁵⁴ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Immigrant status and period of immigration (11), major field of study – classification of instructional programs (CIP) 2016 (43), highest certificate, diploma or degree (15), school attendance (3), age (13a) and sex (3) for the population aged 15 years and over in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016269). Retrieved from https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/

⁵⁵ Jin, R. L., Shah, C. P., & Svoboda, T. J. (1995). The impact of unemployment on health: A review of the evidence. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 153*, 529-540.

⁵⁶ World Health Organization, Calouste Gulbenkian Foundation. (2014). *Social determinants of mental health*. Retrieved from

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/112828/9789241506809 eng.pdf

⁵⁷ Dooley, D. (2003). Unemployment, underemployment, and mental health: Conceptualizing employment status as a continuum. *American Journal of Community Psychology, 32*, 9-20.

⁵⁸ Vives, A., Amable, M., Ferrer, M., Moncada, S. L., Llorens, C., Muntaner, C., . . . Benach, J. (2013). Employment precariousness and poor mental health: Evidence from Spain on a new social determinant of health. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health, 2013*, 1-10. doi:10.1155/2013/978656

⁵⁹ Canivet, C., Aronsson, G., Bernhard-Oettel, C., Leineweber, C., Moghaddassi, M., Stengard, J., . . . Östergren, P.-O. (2017). The negative effects on mental health of being in a non-desired occupation in an increasingly precarious labour market. *SSM-Population Health, 3*, 516-524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2017.05.009

⁶⁰ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: First official language spoken (7), labour force status (8), highest certificate, diploma or degree (15), immigrant status and period of immigration (11), age (12a) and sex (3) for the population aged 15 years and over in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016198). Retrieved from https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/

⁶¹ Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: Aboriginal identity (9), secondary (high) school diploma or equivalency certificate (14), labour force status (8), registered or treaty Indian status (3), residence by Aboriginal geography (10), age (13a) and sex (3) for the population aged 15 years and over in private households (Catalogue No. 98-400-X2016365). Retrieved from https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/

⁶² Statistics Canada. (2017). Data tables, 2016 Census: First official language spoken (7), labour force status (8), highest certificate, diploma or degree (15), major field of study – classification of instructional programs (CIP) 2016 (82), age (6b) and sex (3) for the population aged 15 years and over in private households (Catalogue No. 98.400-X2016286). Retrieved from https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/

⁶³ Kennedy, S., & McDonald, J. T. (2006). Immigrant mental health and unemployment. *Economic Record, 82*, 445-459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4932.2006.00358.x</u>

⁶⁴ Zunzunegui, M.-V., Forster, M., Gauvin, L., Raynault, M.-F., & Willms, J. D. (2006). Community unemployment and immigrants' health in Montreal. *Social Science and Medicine, 63*, 485-500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.01.004</u>

⁶⁵ Ng, W., Sundar, A., Poole, J., Karpoche, B., Abdillahi, I., Arat-Koc, S., . . . Galabuzi, G.-E. (2016). *"Working so hard and still so poor!" A public health crisis in the making: The health impacts of precarious work on racialized refugee and immigrant women.* Retrieved from

https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B7HYn4lq0ns4RINiZHJGYjhKaXc/view

⁶⁶ Premji, S., & Shakya, Y. (2017). Pathways between under/unemployment and health among racialized immigrant women in Toronto. *Ethnicity and Health, 22*, 17-35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2016.1180347</u>

⁶⁷ McKenzie, K. (2006). Racial discrimination and mental health. *Psychiatry, 5,* 383-387. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.mppsy.2006.08.002

⁶⁸ Williams, D. R., & Mohammed, S.A. (2009). Discrimination and racial disparities in health: Evidence and needed research. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 32*, 20-47.

⁶⁹ De Maio, F. G., & Kemp, E. (2010). The deterioration of health status among immigrants to Canada. *Global Public Health, 5*, 462-478. doi:10.1080/17441690902942480

⁷⁰ Fenta, H., Hyman, I., & Noh, S. (2006). Mental health service utilization by Ethiopian immigrants and refugees in Toronto. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 194*, 925-934. doi:10.1097/01.nmd.0000249109.71776.58

⁷¹ Edge, S. & Newbold, B. (2013). Discrimination and health of immigrants and refugees: Exploring Canada's evidence base and directions for future research in newcomer receiving countries. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *15*, 141-148.

⁷² Canada. Parliament. House of Commons. (2018). *Taking action against systemic racism and religious discrimination including Islamophobia. Report of the standing committee on Canadian heritage, 42nd Parliament, 1st Session.* Retrieved from

http://www.ourcommons.ca/Content/Committee/421/CHPC/Reports/RP9315686/chpcrp10/chpcrp10-e.pdf

⁷³ Gaudet, M. (2018). Police-reported hate crime in Canada, 2016. *Juristat, 38*(1). Retrieved from the Statistics Canada website: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2018001/article/54915-eng.htm</u>

⁷⁴ Ibrahim, D. (2018). Violent victimization, discrimination and perceptions of safety: An immigrant perspective, Canada, 2014. *Juristat, 38*(1). Retrieved from the Statistics Canada website: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/85-002-x/2018001/article/54911-eng.pdf?st=ZNR k690

⁷⁵ Simpson, L. (2018). Violent victimization and discrimination among visible minority populations, Canada, 2014. *Juristat, 38*(1). Retrieved from the Statistics Canada website:

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/85-002-x/2018001/article/54913-eng.pdf?st=s9D02aBf

⁷⁶ Ibrahim, D. (2018). Violent victimization and discrimination, by religious affiliation in Canada, 2014. *Juristat, 38*(1). Retrieved from the Statistics Canada website: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2018001/article/54914-eng.pdf</u>

⁷⁷ Visible minority. (2017). In Dictionary, Census of Population, 2016. Retrieved from the Statistics Canada website: <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/pop127-eng.cfm</u>

⁷⁸ Morency, J.-D., Malenfant, E. C., & MacIsaac, S. (2017). *Immigration and diversity: Population projections for Canada and its regions, 2011 to 2036.* Retrieved from the Statistics Canada website: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/91-551-x/91-551-x2017001-eng.pdf?st=IK8kixve</u>



Commission la santé mentale du Canada



Mental Health Commission of Canada

Suite 1210, 350 Albert Street Ottawa, ON K1R 1A4

Tel: 613.683.3755 Fax: 613.798.2989

info@mentalhealthcommission.ca www.mentalhealthcommission.ca

☑ @MHCC_ f/theMHCC ▷ /1MHCC ⓓ @theMHCC in /Mental Health Commission of Canada